
 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         1 of 8 

   

 

TOWN OF WARNER – PLANNING BOARD 
 Meeting Minutes 

March 7, 2016  7:00 PM 

Warner Town Hall, Lower Level 
Members Present: Chairman Rick Davies, Barbara Annis, Ken Milender, Ben Frost, Don 

Hall, Selectman’s Representative Clyde Carson, Alternate Peter Anderson 

Land Use Secretary: Lois Lord 

Late Arrivals: Aedan Sherman (arrived at 7:02); James Gaffney (arrived at 7:15) 

Members Absent: Ben Inman 

1. OPEN MEETING 

Chairman Davies opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 

2. ROLL CALL 

Roll call was taken with three members absent, and seven present (two of the absent arrived late). Chairman 

Davies asked Peter Anderson to sit in for Aedan Sherman. Upon Aedan’s arrival Chairman Davies asked 

Peter Anderson to return to alternate status.  

3. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 
Chairman Davies brought forth the Meeting Minutes of February 1, 2016 for approval. Ben Frost, Rick Davies 

and Aedan Sherman had a few changes. MOTION to approve the minutes with the noted changes was made by 

Barbara Annis, seconded by Ben Frost. A voice vote was taken with a unanimous yes. 

4. OLD BUSINESS 
Traffic Count Program Update – Rick noted a document that had been in the meeting packets regarding the 

Traffic Count and asked Barbara to give an update. She said that 90% of the document was thanks to Aedan who 

put a lot of time and work into it. Barbara explained they had divided the town into sections and eliminated any 

counts in the Minks area since the roads aren’t used much and there is not much development. Each section had 

been outlined and she described what each one covered.  

Barbara said they met with Tim Allen to get his input which is for roads undergoing complete construction or 

shimming. She and Aedan went with a Planning Board perspective and they also asked Dean Williams at 

CNHRPC if an abutting town on the town line was going to be doing a count so that it would not be duplicated 

on the Warner side. Aedan added that Dean found one duplication which was in Section A at the Poverty 

Plains/Rte. 127 Hopkinton side.  

Barbara noted they met a second time with Tim Allen and Chief Chandler to get his input on areas he would like 

to have done. He was looking at it from the standpoint of the amount and speed of the traffic and was concerned 

with the area coming in from Bradford, how many cars are getting on 89 and how many are coming into town. 

Aedan said Chief Chandler mentioned the unmanned signs that show how fast you’re going and that they can also 

be used to get a count of traffic as it gives an hour by hour account of vehicles traveling in both directions.  

Barbara said this is what we are proposing for the Planning Boards approval and once that is given it will go to 

the Selectman and then to Central NH Regional Planning. Aedan reviewed CNHRPCs premise for having a 

Traffic Count Program and that they want each town to develop a three year cycle. Warner has 10 slots available 

every year which is why they sectioned it off; Section A is 2016, Section B would be done in 2017 and Section C 

done in 2018. That way the attention can be focused on each section and slots developed. He mentioned some of 

the sections have two “extra” counts for special situations which Tim Allen and Chief Chandler are aware of. 

Aedan continued, if we find that the counts we have aren’t working we can readjust them and he noted that the 

sections are pretty well balanced.  

Barbara said Tim Allen had mentioned Poverty Plains road as being a shortcut for a lot of people from Davisville 

up to Schoodac. He also thought Burnt Hill Court going up to Burnt Hill is another shortcut and perhaps more 

attention should be paid to that road but he’s not sure until a traffic count is done. He also questioned going over 

onto Couchtown, Mason Hill and those areas and are they getting more traffic than he is aware of which is why 

he wanted some counts done up there. Aedan added once Tim gets roads prioritized he may have changes so he 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         2 of 8 

   

 

can get better information for budgeting for road maintenance and construction.  

Clyde Carson had a question on Section C on Roslyn Avenue and how that would catch all of the traffic and 

going south on Geneva might be a better place. Aedan said that Tim suggested moving it onto Roslyn above 

Geneva because there is already one on Geneva. Discussion ensued that this is a shortcut and that people go down 

Kirkland as well as Geneva. 

Aedan noted there is supposed to be a count on Geneva west of Kearsarge that got left off and with that added 

you would get counts for people cutting through. Some discrepancies were noted on the map and Aedan said he 

had done it before he did the list and he will update the map and the list. Chairman Davies asked if Aedan could 

zoom in on the map so the count details are easier to read. Aedan said he would create a map for each section.  

Barbara noted the sections lists are numbered one through ten because they chose the top five and six through ten 

are secondary. Rick suggested that be noted on the document and asked if they could request more than ten 

counts. Aedan said we can request counts for special exceptions or unexpected projects. 

Ben Frost clarified which sections would be done which years and that he appreciated the thought that went into 

this document as it is very helpful. Rick asked if the next step was to bring this to the Board of Selectmen since 

they are the ones that submit to CNHRPC.  Barbara clarified the count request needed to be in by April and the 

next Selectmen’s meeting is March 15
th

. 

Peter Anderson asked about Kearsarge Mountain Road on the traffic count map, that it was marked as recreation 

and shouldn’t it be marked as a state road. Aedan said the map was generated by the state. Discussion continued 

that the classification of roads shown is the states and they consider Kearsarge recreation because it’s part of the 

state parks. Ben Frost said he believes the red roads are Class I and II, the yellow are Class III and IV recreation 

and V and VI are town roads.  

Chairman Davies asked Barbara if she and Aedan could present this to the Board of Selectmen. It was decided it 

could be done by March 15
th

 and would be presented to them then as long as the Planning Board was in approval. 

Rick noted it’s somewhat of a moving document and Aedan agreed and said it’s the first round and the way he is 

looking at it is a base starting point, not fixed in stone and will be tweaked. He noted Dean mentioned he realizes 

towns are still figuring it out and changes will be made.  

Rick asked if this would be considered a Planning Board document and suggested that a Planning Board header 

be added to it. Rick stated we are looking to approve this document for Aedan and Barbara to present to the 

Board of Selectmen when they can get on the agenda. Ben Frost MOVED Ricks statement to a MOTION, Aedan 

Sherman seconded. Aedan said he would have the written section and map revised for the Board of Selectmen’s 

meeting but may not have the enlarged sections on separate maps as discussed earlier.  Chairman Davies clarified 

they are voting to approve Section A’s traffic counts and the documents process and to send Aedan and Barbara 

to the Selectmen with it. A roll call vote was taken with the results of 7-0-0. 

Status of Town Website’s Planning Board documents 

Chairman Davies noted that since the last meeting, the website documents under the Planning Board Department 

section have been updated. He said he would prefer to have a link to archive some of the documents since they’re 

not needed that often, for example the Corridor Studies and the Charrette. For things like the Master Plan it 

would be nice to have it condensed to one link. At this point, from what Dan says, this is what we have to work 

with. There may be a different way to do it in the future.  

Barbara mentioned Clyde had started a Website Committee out of the Board of Selectmen’s office which looked 

at a lot of other town’s websites. They decided on a design that was more user friendly and at that point the 

committee stopped meeting. Clyde replied that he will start that up again the other side of town meeting. 

James Gaffney said there should be consideration as to whether or not there is a disclaimer posted with 

documents that contain ordinances and regulations to the effect that if there is a discrepancy between what is on 

the website and what is on file with the town, the town document will take precedence and be the authoritative 

document. He pointed out it is easy to deface and alter websites. 

Chairman Davies said that in theory that is what we were running into before and said if there is a regulation that 

is updated the town clerk signs it. He asked Clyde if they have run into that and he replied he thought they may 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         3 of 8 

   

 

have run into situations with things like the personnel policy which might not reflect current statuses. 

Rick asked Lois if she would check with the Town Administrator for appropriate wording for a disclaimer for 

documents on the website. He asked Ben Frost if he had run into that type of language on websites and Ben 

replied that he has and thinks it’s a good idea.  

5. NEW BUSINESS 

OEP Conference Status – Chairman Davies noted it had been cancelled and a new date for the conference will 

be announced on March 23
rd

.  Ben said he believes it will be held on June 4
th

 assuming they can get all of the 

contracts in place for it. Rick said attending this conference helps board members with the Planning Board 

process and that he and Barbara go each year and Ben Frost is usually there as a lecturer.  

State Legislative update – Rick said this would probably be discussed next month when we look at the coming 

year. He asked Ben if there was anything new on this. 

Ben noted SB 146 regarding Accessory Dwelling units has passed both chambers. The Senate concurred with the 

Houses amendment, indications are the Governor will sign it and it is anticipated it will go into effect July 1 of 

2017. The Zoning Ordinance revision should be worked on this year for the 2017 Town Meeting.  

Ben continued there are two Agritourism bills. The one in the House is HB 1141 which is a simple bill that 

changes the definition of Agritourism and includes it within the statutory definition of agriculture. The Senate bill 

is more complex but a better bill. There was a hearing on it last week and an amendment has been prepared to 

include what the House is likely to approve this week. It’s intended to deal with what Henniker and Gilford have 

been going through with Ecotourism issues and trying to strike a balance between the two. 

Chairman Davies asked when it would go into effect if it is approved. Ben said it could be effective upon 

passage.  

Archived Documents, Regulations, Ordinances – Rick noted there is a current case with the ZBA for a Special 

Exception that had come before the Planning Board half a year ago for Pumpkin Blossom Farm. During the 

process a document was found archived in the library for a Special Exception approval in 1976 and there might 

be another document relative to a Special Exception but it is vaguely written.  

Chairman Davies said the point is that right now he is working with the Land Use Secretary to start a process of 

organizing logs and lists of what has happened and get the documents in the correct files which might take a long 

time to do. Rick said he had printed out over 100 pages of microfilm from the library, each page having 1-4 cases 

on them of varying importance.  He said he has been told it’s not uncommon for small towns to have these issues 

with documents with things being moved, damage due to flooding, etc.  

James Gaffney said it sounds like, in the absence of something that is searchable; in many of the older cases it 

may be appropriate to file them in more than one folder. Chairman Davies said currently they are filed nowhere 

so we are starting with getting them in one correct folder. Unfortunately the only information on many of the 

records is the residents name and a vague description of the Special Exception or Variance and no mention of the 

property it pertains to. We haven’t found any minutes or agenda for certain time periods. 

James asked how far back this is going and Rick replied as far as back as 1973 and there may be something 

earlier. The plan is to get some type of a log system down so we can track the documents and see what is 

important. He asked Ben if he had seen this before in small towns and Ben said he has.  

Review Rule of Procedure Item VII J – Chairman Davies read the item in question as follows: 

Planning Board members may use electronics during Planning Board meetings only for purposes sanctioned by 

the Board.  

Rick said he brought this up as a reminder and for discussion, the concern is paying attention to the meeting 

instead of the electronic device and that with any communications obtained during a meeting, there might be a 

right to know issue if it’s not shared with the rest of the board. He said it’s no different than if someone came up 

and delivered a piece of paper to him or taking a phone call during a meeting. 

Clyde Carson noted that Lois has started distributing the documents for the meeting electronically and he and 

James have been using those as he prefers to work that way. Chairman Davies said he expects at some point they 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         4 of 8 

   

 

will all be using electronic devices for the meeting and wanted to reinforce the rule of procedure. In theory, it 

could be a hearing where a board member receives a text or email from the audience which would be a right to 

know issue. 

Application Review Options – Chairman Davies said he has noticed a couple of times when signing off on final 

plats; a few things have been missed by the Planning Board. On the recent lot line adjustments, the engineer did 

everything for the major applicant’s property but the setbacks weren’t indicated on the lot line adjustment 

property which is the type of thing he is referring to.  

Rick noted the question is if there are good options for ways to review these things.  Ben Frost said some towns 

have an informal process with a technical review committee that reviews the applications prior to them going to 

the board and makes recommendations to the applicant. Discussion continued that this may need to be formally 

reviewed by the town, that for site plan review there is a provision for this type of committee, and that it can be 

done more informally with no decisions made until it’s at the Planning Board level. 

Aedan asked if the Planning Board could develop a checklist for ourselves and Chairman Davies responded we 

already have one and for example for Site Plan there is a two page list and if he has a question he circles that item 

on the checklist. That checklist is somewhat generic to help the applicant complete their application and also to 

help the board in review.  

Aedan said perhaps we could have a more specific one that would be for review at the board level or a review 

committee. Rick said in theory the checklist is to make sure everything is addressed by the applicant and in 

reality the regulations are what should be reviewed. Chairman Davies mentioned hiring a circuit rider (for 

example Central NH Regional Planning) who would spend 8-16 hours on a project and write up a list of things. 

Aedan asked if Central NH could come up with a checklist for us that they use so we don’t miss things. 

Chairman Davies noted a lot of items he just addressed are on the checklist although with something like the Use 

Table question, there are five pages of uses which have to be gone through. He said he had emailed Matt 

Monahan several months ago and Rick was told CNHRPC can review applications and they would go through 

the regs page by page which in theory is what the Planning Board would do prior to the meeting. Rick said his 

concern would be that all of a sudden we get five cases which would take a lot of time. 

Barbara Annis asked Rick how often we miss things on the applications. He replied he has seen it on the last 

three things he’s signed off on, not that they are end of the world items but it takes a lot of time to go through a 

detailed project and there are things we miss. One of the items he mentioned earlier with the setback he had on 

his list but forgot to bring it up.  

Don Hall mentioned that every case is different and if you have a seasoned board the majority pick up on it and it 

takes people new to the board awhile to understand what it’s all about. Chairman Davies said the point Ben made 

about the ad hoc group getting together to review cases, that is an informal list which he has done before when he 

wasn’t Chair. Beyond that he is confident with the rest of it. 

Don asked if we are missing things because we’re rushing. Rick said we may have missed things in the past 

we’re not aware of which is part of my point. The other part is if you get multiple big projects all of a sudden, 

they would take a while to review at the board level. You rely on a couple of people who go through in their 

spare time to check the list. Don asked it what we are missing is critical to what the applicant is trying to do to 

which Chairman Davies replied that each project is different.  

Barbara said her concern is that Rick is asking for another ad hoc committee and he replied he would prefer not 

to. Barbara asked how thin the board could go and there are ten people on the board, three of which are on the 

Master Plan Subcommittee. Now you are going to want more because of the housing bill, are you expecting the 

same person to serve on two or three subcommittees? Is everybody going to contribute or just the same certain 

ones and I think this is asking a bit more of the board. 

Chairman Davies said his initial response is that reviewing cases is probably the most important thing we do on 

the board level. He is looking for a better and more expeditious way to do it so we don’t hold up applicants. Some 

towns have a part time planner who comes in to review things and puts together the list like the circuit rider. 

Some towns have a full time planner who does 98% of the work and when it gets to the board level, it gets 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         5 of 8 

   

 

approved with that input. He said Barbara’s point is taken in spreading thin and he’s not in favor of an ad hoc 

committee but wants to make sure that we know if we have five cases all of a sudden, something else may go on 

the back burner. 

Aedan asked if the checklist we use has ever been reviewed by Matt at CNHRPC to see if they could fine tune it. 

Chairman Davies said he thought when the Site Plan Regulations were revised it got sent to them and that the 

checklist mimics what’s inside of the regulation. Aedan said it doesn’t sound like it was ever posed to them with 

this scenario, that things are getting missed and asking them if there is more fine tuning or specificity so we don’t 

miss the little details. 

James commented, in part to Barbara’s point, he would like to suggest that the Planning Board make some 

decision about what their priorities are over the next six months to a year and serially address each of those 

issues. Chairman Davies said we typically do that at next month’s meeting. James continued there is a group of 

people who do the heavy lifting for a number of reasons and quality of output should take precedence over 

quantity. 

Ben Frost stated we have a checklist which serves to guide the applicants and this board’s review of applications 

submitted to us. That really is our checklist and if there are things on the checklist that we’re missing then we 

have a problem. If there are thing that aren’t on the checklist and we’re missing them but they’re in the regs then 

they should be on the checklist. Ben said he doesn’t think there is any harm in inquiring of CNHRPC what 

alternative methodologies there are for review plans but his guess is anything other than what we are doing right 

now, short of creating an ad hoc committee, would wind up costing us money. 

Chairman Davies said that one of the items on the checklist is to comply with the Zoning Ordinance and there is a 

lot of territory there. Part of it was that it wasn’t hunted through for one or two cases which wasn’t the end of the 

world type stuff but in certain situations it could be so we want to do it as properly as we can. Big picture, if we 

do get five substantial cases that would be priority.  

There was discussion that all five cases wouldn’t be heard the same night so there would be time for each one. 

Barbara mentioned there were times in the past when the work session was used to hear cases. Rick made the 

point that would be considered a special meeting, not a work session and that his goal is always to go through 

things as expeditiously as we can. The more review members have done up front, the more we can do that.  

Aedan suggested sending the checklist to CNHRPC and have them review it. Chairman Davies asked Lois if she 

could email the checklist to Matt Monihan to review and also to ask if they have any other methods for reviewing 

cases to make the Planning Board more efficient and effective. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         6 of 8 

   

 

Letter from Selectmen regarding purchase of land – Chairman Davies noted the letter had been given to him 

tonight so it would not be addressed at this point. He read the letter as follows: 

  

Rick asked Clyde what time period they were thinking and it would obviously not be ready for town meeting on 

Wednesday. Clyde said they are asking for approval of the purchase at town meeting which doesn’t mean they 

don’t want to have the approval of the Planning Board and input from the Conservation Commission. Chairman 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         7 of 8 

   

 

asked Clyde if it would make sense for the board to take it up at the first April meeting. Clyde replied the board 

would appreciate that. 

There was discussion that there is not a work session scheduled this month but the board could have a special 

meeting. He asked board members what they thought of having a special meeting on March 21
st
 and there was 

some agreement to that. Don Hall asked if they are going to go through the same procedure they went through 

with the previous site, i.e. would they be providing a preliminary drawing to show the building and driveway. 

Rick said what he would recommend would be to have the Land Use Secretary communicate with the 

Selectmen’s office to see what documentation they have to include in meeting packets for the 21
st
. Clyde noted at 

this point the goal of the Selectmen is just to procure a piece of land and over the next year come up with a plan 

for the piece of property. If the expectations were that we would have a site plan with a building on it that would 

not be until the next round. 

Peter Anderson asked what the board would be reviewing for approval. Clyde said it would be a tax map and the 

zoning regarding that piece of property. Chairman Davies said there was a map on the town website with a 

driveway shown. Clyde said they have permission from the state to renew a previous driveway permit that was 

issued; the location is to be determined. 

Rick said we will get documents together for the next meeting, review and make comments and 

recommendations.   

6. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS 

Master Plan Subcommittee – Chairman Davies mentioned at the last meeting the goal was to find a date 

they could get together for an initial kick-off meeting and that Ben wasn’t able to meet any of the dates. His 

said the first meeting should have all of them together and subsequent meetings could have people come and 

go. Potential meeting times were discussed and it was decided that Rick would send out an email to 

determine a kick-off meeting date and in the meantime they could individually come up with some ideas for 

discussion. 

Rick mentioned he had sent out a link for an OEP Seminar that goes over details of coming up with a 

functional Master Plan. 

COMMUNICATIONS AND MISCELLANOUS 

Chairman’s Report -  Chairman Davies noted he had met with Jim Bingham, Tom Baye, Lois and Mary 

Whalen to make sure we’re all on the same page with building permits and Site Plan Review. During the 

meeting he found out there were a couple of weak links one of which was the building inspection didn’t get 

all of the information on some of the building permits. He feels it was a constructive meeting and he 

requested there be a temporary occupancy permit relative to having Site Plan Review finalized by the 

Compliance Officer in conjunction with the building inspector who was open to that.  

James asked if that was dictated by statute and Rick replied in some respects yes. If you have a small town 

with a limited number of people working on multiple tasks sometimes the full picture of a project isn’t really 

known until the full picture starts going on. It’s not the Planning Boards issue but it sounded like there were 

a few building permit communication issues in the Building Department that didn’t get done quite right. 

Rick continued there is state building code that the town has adopted which includes building permit process 

and there is a town process which includes the Site Plan and Subdivision Regs and it is a matter of blending 

them together.  

Chairman Davies noted a question came up in the Land Use Office regarding unsolicited publications from 

an organization with an agenda. The question is do we discard those or keep them in the records and are we 

under legal obligation to keep them in our archives or bring to a meeting for discussion. Discussion ensued 

that it’s not something we asked for, it may be a matter of interpreting if it is instructive to the board, and if 

it doesn’t pertain to any business of the board what to do with it would be the Chairman’s prerogative. 

Chairman Davies mentioned the Planning Board Escrow Account and that off and on it gets used for transfer 

of funds when they don’t want to use the large town account. He stated the Planning Board should write a 

letter to the Town Administrator saying that cannot be done and that the Planning Board needs their own 



 

As approved by the Planning Board April 4, 2016         8 of 8 

   

 

account for escrow. Rick said the point is its being used outside of escrow and if there was an escrow 

amount in there and it got used that would potentially create a big headache.  

Barbara noted that in the town report it is described as the Planning Board Fee Account, has a balance of 

$23.00 in it and it was opened to keep track of escrow funding. It goes directly from the Land Use Secretary 

to the town Treasurer and does not go through the book keeper as an in and out account. Rick said a few 

years ago, after the fact; he was told it was used for some tax money that needed to be paid via wire transfer. 

Unless the board wants to vote on sending a letter perhaps it should be up to the Chairman to communicate 

with the Town Administrator on this situation and report back. The board was in agreement. 

Compliance Officer Inspection Reports – No new Reports.  

Determination of Site Plan Review Applications – The Land Use Secretary stated no new applications had 

been submitted.  

Selectmen’s Representative Report – Selectman Carson stated there were two public information sessions 

held last week, one was on the Fire Station site and they are looking at Gordon Smiths property on West 

Main Street. It was number two or three on the Site Selection Committees list and wasn’t available at the 

time but is now and Mr. Smith wants to make the property available to the town if they want it.  

When they put together the Warrant Article for town meeting they were still in the process of looking at 

several sites. Selectman Carson said he expects there will be an amendment on the money that is going to be 

voted on to use it for the purchase of this property and we have a Purchase and Sales agreement contingent 

on the outcome at town meeting. They looked at the properties with members of the Fire Department and 

feel they are on board with this one. 

It was asked how much the property was selling for and Selectman Carson replied it’s assessed at $240,000 

and the Purchase and Sales agreement is for $215,000.  

Clyde noted the second public information session was on the Municipal Solar Array project and there will 

be a presentation on it at town meeting. There will also be a Warrant Article for a new town grader; both of 

these require a two-thirds vote. 

There was further discussion on the meeting of the 21
st
 and what else might be addressed. Rick said the last 

time the Planning Board talked about a fire department site it became an impromptu public hearing. He 

asked if the 21
st
 meeting should be advertised as a public hearing. He asked Selectman Carson if the 

Selectmen would be having two public hearings per RSA 41-14a and Clyde said it doesn’t really come into 

play this time.  

Chairman Davies asked the Planning Board, if there are twenty people in the audience, are they going to 

want to do an impromptu public hearing? If they are going to do that again he would suggest advertising it 

as such and would just as soon do it as they had before with the end result a letter to the Selectmen of what 

they have observed and a recommendation.  

Rick took a verbal poll of having a public hearing and none of the Planning Board felt it should be done and 

that it was just an internal discussion. Don said one good thing that came out of the public discussion with 

the previous site was they did score a lot of points for allowing the public to speak that night which is what 

they want. Rick said he agrees but there may have been other people who would have wanted to speak if it 

has been advertised as a public hearing.   

9. PUBLIC COMMENT    
James Gaffney asked to comment on the Board of Selectmen seeming to circumvent the established RSA 

and asking the Planning Board to review something that has no documents for it. Either we stick to the RSA 

or we don’t. 

11. ADJOURN 

MOTION to adjourn was made by Aedan Sherman, seconded by Rick Davies. A voice vote was taken with all in 

favor. Meeting was adjourned at 8:35 p.m. 


